CASE NO.: S234617

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT FILED

NOV 2 2 2016

BADRUDIN KURWA,

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Plaintiff and Appellant,

Deputy

v.

MARK KISLINGER, et al.,

Respondent,

After a Decision By The Court of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division 5
Case Number: B264641

Superior Court of Los Angeles The Honorable Dan Thomas Oki Case Number: KC 045 216

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Robert S. Gerstein, SBN 35941 723 Ocean Front Walk Venice, CA 90291

Telephone: (310) 820-1939

Steven H. Gardner, Esq., SBN 70921 8730 Wilshire Blvd., Suite 400 Beverly Hills, California 90211 Telephone: (310) 246-2300

Facsimile: (310) 246-2328

INTRODUCTION

When they first came before this Court in *Kurwa v. Kislinger* (2013) 57 Cal.4th 1097 (*Kurwa I*), each of the parties retained a defamation cause of action dismissed without prejudice, and protected

by a mutual agreement to waive the statute of limitations. On that basis, this Court concluded that the judgment against Kurwa was not final, and dismissed his appeal.

In the following years, Kurwa struggled to move forward with the litigation, but without success. The trial court rejected Kurwa's motions to set aside the waiver agreement for mutual mistake of law or impossibility, as well as his suggestion that the trial court reconsider its ruling against Kurwa *sua sponte*. Kurwa's efforts to obtain writ relief from those rulings were also rejected.

Finally, Kurwa has dismissed his own defamation cause of action *with* prejudice, leaving Kislinger as the only party retaining a cause of action dismissed without prejudice. Kurwa then filed notice of appeal, contending that *Kurwa I* should apply only where it is appellant who retains such a cause of action, not respondent. The Court of Appeal rejected that contention, and applied *Kurwa I* to dismiss the appeal without qualification.

That result puts Kislinger in a position to prevent Kurwa from ever exercising his right to appeal. By simply retaining the defamation cause of action he dismissed without prejudice, and

insisting on the continued validity of the agreement which prevents the statute of limitations from running on it, he can stop the trial court's ruling in his favor from ever ripening into a final judgment, permanently thwarting appellate review.

The purpose of the one final judgment rule as developed by this Court in such cases as *Morehart v. County of Santa Barbara* (1994) 7 Cal.4th 725, codified in section 904.1, and applied in *Kurwa I*, is to enhance the effectiveness of the appellate process, not to stultify it. But an application of the rule which would allow a particular category of prevailing parties to block appellate review of rulings in their favor forever would do just that.

As Kurwa argued in the Court of Appeal, this Court can prevent such abuse by applying *Kurwa I* to deny finality to a judgment only when it is the party seeking to appeal that retains a cause of action dismissed without prejudice and protected by a waiver of the statute, not when the would-be respondent does so. *Vedanta Society of Southern California v. California Quartet, Ltd.* (2000) 84 Cal.App.4th 517 (*Vedanta*).

In the alternative, Hill v. City of Clovis (1998) 634 Cal. App. 4th

434, suggests another way to protect the right to appeal in such cases, while still allowing the rule of *Kurwa I* to apply across the board: to direct the Courts of Appeal to accompany their dismissals of appeals in such cases with instructions to the trial courts to vacate any elements of their judgments and rulings, or the parties' stipulations, that would prevent those judgments from becoming final under *Kurwa I*.

The essential point is to erase from our law the anomoly of allowing a rule intended to enhance the effectiveness of appellate review to be used as a weapon to deprive litigants of their right to appeal.

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Does this Court's decision in *Kurwa v. Kislinger* (2013) 57 Cal.4th 1097, allow a prevailing party in the trial court to deprive the losing party of the right to appeal permanently by refusing to take further action on a cause of action previously dismissed without prejudice, and with an agreement to waive the statute of limitations?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Dr. Kurwa first brought this action against Dr. Kislinger and

others on November 23, 2004 (AA 9). On April 7, 2005, Dr. Kurwa filed the operative Second Amended Complaint against Dr. Kislinger, his professional corporations, and Physician Associates. It included causes of action for breach of contract, breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fear dealing, and breach of fiduciary duty, all on behalf both of Dr. Kurwa as an individual and derivatively on behalf of Trans Valley, causes of action for fraud, an accounting and defamation on behalf of Dr. Kurwa individually, and for tortious interference and removal of a corporate director derivatively on behalf of Trans Valley (AA 11).

On August 11, 2005, Appellant amended his Second Amended Complaint to substitute Respondent's Attorney, Dale B. Goldfarb and Mr. Goldfarb's firm, Harrington, Foxx, Dubrow & Canter as DOES 1 and 2 (AA 1421). Those parties filed an anti-SLAPP motion (AA 1421) the denial of which was upheld by this Court in *Kurwa v*. *Harrington, Foxx, Dubrow & Canter* (2007) 146 Cal.App.4th 841.

On September 26, 2007, the trial court granted summary judgment to all defendants save Dr. Kislinger and his associated professional corporations (AA 1239). The Court of Appeal affirmed

in an unpublished opinion filed on January 14, 2009 (AA 1177-1184). The September 26, 2007 order also granted Dr. Kislinger's motion for summary adjudication as to the claim for tortious interference with contractual relations (AA 1239-41).

The case against the remaining defendants, Dr. Kislinger and his medical corporations, was called for trial on March 2, 2010. On that date, the trial court heard Dr. Kislinger's *in limine* motions. At the hearing, Dr. Kurwa voluntarily dismissed his causes of action for fraud, breach of contract, and breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, electing to pursue only his claims for breach fiduciary duty, and for an accounting (RT 9-11).

The trial court then proceeded to grant three of Dr. Kislinger's motions *in limine*, including one precluding Dr. Kurwa from presenting evidence of fiduciary duty, another precluding him from presenting evidence of the contract with Physician Associates, or the 1997 written form of the contract with Dr. Kislinger, and a third holding that he had no standing, thus precluding him from presenting any evidence at all (AA 1402-03).

The parties also stipulated to dismiss the remaining cross-

claims for defamation they had against each other without prejudice, agreeing that they could be reinstated only if the judgment was reversed on appeal, and waiving the statute of limitations. The stipulation was entered as an order of the trial court on March 22, 2010. (RJN 212, Ex. N)

On August 23, 2010, the trial court purportedly entered judgment for Dr. Kislinger and his professional corporations. (AA 1404). Dr. Kurwa filed timely notice of appeal on October 12, 2010 (AA 1406).

On appeal, the Court of Appeal determined that the judgment was final and appealable. (AA 1431-34) Proceeding to the merits of the case, the court reversed the judgment in full. (AA 1435-39) One justice dissented, contending that the appeal should have been dismissed. (AA 1440)

This Court, having granted review, held that a trial court disposition could not be final and appealable if there remained a cause of action which a party had dismissed without prejudice, subject to an agreement to waive the statute of limitations. On that basis, this Court dismissed the appeal, nullifying the Court of Appeal's decision.

Kurwa v. Kislinger, (2013) 57 Cal. 4th 1097 (Kurwa I). (AA 1441)

On remand, Dr. Kurwa filed a Motion for Order Re-Setting

Case for Final Status Conference and Trial Upon Remand. (See RJN

9, Ex. A)

In the motion, Dr. Kurwa asked the trial court either (1) to rescind the parties' stipulation as to dismissal of the defamation causes of action as the result of mutual mistake, which would have had the result of making the trial court's order a final, appealable judgment by operation of law, or (2) to reconsider its decision on the motions *sua sponte* in light of the Court of Appeal's earlier opinion in this matter under *Le François v. Goel* (2008) 35 Cal. 4th 1094.

The trial court denied the motion (See RJN 14, Ex. A), and another motion which sought to set aside the stipulation as void for impossibility under Section 1441 of the Civil Code. (RJN 89, Ex. D), on November 7, 2014.

On November 13, 2014, the Court of Appeal denied Dr. Kurwa's writ petition from that decision, commenting that "Dr. Kurwa is not without other means to attempt to make the judgment reviewable." B259558 (RJN 9, Ex. E). This Court denied review.

(RJN 118, Ex. G)

Thereafter, Dr. Kurwa moved to amend his complaint by addition of a cause of action to rescind the stipulation because it had been entered into under a mistake of law. (See RJN, 132, Ex. H) The trial court denied that motion as well (*Ibid.*)

Dr. Kurwa then petitioned the Court of Appeal a second time for a writ of mandate, seeking relief from that decision, as well as the previous decisions of the trial court which together barred Dr. Kurwa from obtaining appellate review. In the alternative, Dr. Kurwa asked that, if it found no other remedy available, the Court of Appeal consider on its merits the question of whether the trial court should have granted Dr. Kislinger's motions *in limine* (the basis for the judgment this Court found not to be final or appealable). (RJN 134-37, 140-59, Ex. H)

The Court of Appeal denied the Second Petition on July 10, 2015, by a two-to-one vote. Making no further comment as to "other means to attempt to make the judgment reviewable," the majority found no abuse of discretion in the trial court's denial of leave to amend, and rejected the requests for relief from the trial court's prior

actions as "untimely and repetitive." (RJN 162, Ex. I)

The dissenter would have granted the alternative writ directing the trial court to vacate its order granting Dr. Kislinger's motions *in limine* and allowing Dr. Kurwa to proceed to trial, or to show cause why "Dr. Kurwa's claims should not be granted."

In the dissenter's view, the majority has placed Dr. Kurwa in the "seemingly Kafkaesque situation" of being unable to correct a miscarriage of justice, though the court had earlier told him that he was "not without other means to attempt to make the judgment reviewable." (*Ibid.*). This Court denied review (RJN 211, Ex. M)

Meanwhile, Dr. Kurwa had dismissed his defamation cause of action *with* prejudice on April 23, 2015 (AA 1457), and thereafter filed notice of appeal on June 1, 2015. (AA 1461).

The Court of Appeal, however, dismissed the appeal for failure to satisfy the one final judgment rule as stated in *Kurwa I*, and refused to consider the appeal as a writ petition. (Petition for Review, App. A). Thereafter, Kurwa petitioned for review, and this Court granted review on August 10, 2016.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

(NOTE: With the exception of a few undisputed facts presented in support of Dr. Kislinger's motions, the facts as stated below are drawn from the allegations of Dr. Kurwa's Second Amended Complaint, by page and ¶ number.)

Drs. Kurwa and Kislinger are licensed ophthalmologists (AA 13, ¶¶12-13). Prior to 1991, Dr. Kurwa and Dr. Kislinger each had his own separate practice (AA 13, ¶15). In about 1991, Dr. Reginald Friesen brought them together to create a joint venture able to undertake large-scale agreements for the provision of ophthalmological services to medical groups (AA 13-14, ¶16).

On July 30, 1992, Drs. (Bud) Kurwa and (Mark) Kislinger both signed a handwritten "Agreement between Bud and Mark" in which they outlined the structure within which they would jointly pursue and share such business (AA 1295). Acting through Trans Valley Eye Associates, Inc., a corporation they created as a means to carry out the joint venture, they eventually obtained several such contracts, including one with Huntington Provider Group (AA 14, ¶18).

The venture was successful. As stated by this Court, "in the year prior to termination the Capitation Agreement [with Physician Associates] resulted in receipts of approximately \$1.9 million dollars." *Kurwa, supra,* 146 Cal.App.4th at 843.

There was also a document entitled "Agreement Between Dr. Kurwa and Dr. Kislinger," dated April 29, 1997, which was attached to the Second Amended Complaint as an exhibit. It further develops the structure of the relationship between the two ophthamologists, stating their understanding that they were "partners in TransValley," that, if any of their managed-care contracts were lost, the remaining contracts would be equally split between them, and that any new managed-care contracts obtained by either party would be jointly administered (AA 29-30).

In 1999, a new corporation, Physician Associates, was established to buy Huntington Provider Group. Drs. Kurwa and Kislinger each made capital contributions of \$100,000 to the new venture based on the assurance that Physician Associates would take over Huntington Provider Group's contract with Trans Valley and continue it permanently. (AA 14-15).

In 2001, Trans Valley entered into a new contract with Physician Associates (AA 15, 31). The contract included a term providing for automatic termination in the event a group physician's license was "revoked, expired or suspended...," or subject to

probation. (AA 43).

By an order of the California Medical Board, Dr. Kurwa was suspended from the practice of medicine for 60 days beginning 16 days after September 26, 2003, and placed on 5 years probation. (AA 1280).

Later in 2003, Dr. Kislinger's attorney, Dale Goldfarb, sent a letter to the president of Physician Associates pointing out that (1) Dr. Kurwa had been suspended from the practice of medicine, and (2) Trans Valley was not a professional corporation which could lawfully engage in the practice of medicine. The letter invited the HMO to make Dr. Kislinger's own recently formed medical corporation the exclusive ophthalmology provider for Physician Associates. (AA 15-16, 55). See *Kurwa*, *supra* at 843-844.

Thereafter, on October 31, 2003, the president of Physician Associates informed Dr. Kurwa that the contract with Trans Valley had been terminated because Trans Valley was not organized as a medical corporation (AA 55). The contract with Physician Associates was taken over by Foothill EyeCare Services effective December 1, 2003 (AA 58). The complaint alleges that Foothill EyeCare Services

is owned and/or controlled by Dr. Kislinger. (AA 16).

ARGUMENT

THIS COURT MUST NOT ALLOW PARTIES PREVAILING IN THE TRIAL COURT TO MISUSE KURWA I TO DEPRIVE THE LOSING PARTIES OF THEIR RIGHT TO APPEAL.

A. THE ONE FINAL JUDGMENT RULE.

Under the one final judgment rule,

a judgment that fails to dispose of all causes of action pending between the parties is generally not appealable.

Kurwa I, at 1100.

This Court has made it clear it is not free to decide specific issues of appealability by whatever rule it finds "best balances party autonomy or trial and appellate efficiency." *Kurwa I* 57 Cal.4th at 1107. Rather, the one final judgment rule must in each case be applied in the manner "most consistent with the policy against piecemeal appeals...." *Kurwa I*, at 1100.

In addition to "reducing the number of appeals, this Court as cited these benefits of the one final judgment rule: avoidance of uncertainty and delay in the trial court, making it possible for the trial court to resolve potential appellate issues by altering its rulings, and providing the appellate court with a more complete record, as well as

a complete trial court adjudication, as the basis for its decision. *Kurwa*I at 1106, quoting *Kinoshita v. Horio* (1986) 186 Cal.App.3d 959,

966-67.

In sum, the purpose of the rule is to enhance the effectiveness of the appellate process by avoiding premature appeals. The principal means of achieving that purpose is to deny appellants the ability "to separate [their] causes of action into two compartments for separate appellate treatment at different points of time." Crucially, however, a litigant denied that opportunity "... still has his right of appellate review... but at the appropriate time and no earlier." *Jackson v. Wells Fargo Bank* (1997) 54 Cal.App.4th 240 at 242, quoted in *Kurwa I*, at 1103.

The question the rule asks, then, is not *whether* losing parties can appeal trial court rulings, but *when*. An interlocutory (and therefore unappealable) judgment is one "not *yet* final, as to any parties between whom another cause of action remains pending." *Kurwa I*, at 1101, quoting *Morehart*, 7 Cal.4th 725 at 741 (emphasis added). But, while earlier, interlocutory orders cannot be immediately appealed, "later ones will certainly be appealable," *Kinoshita*, 186

Cal. App.3d at 966, and the appeal will cover all previous rulings which affect the final judgment. Code of Civil Procedure section 906.

But this Court has also made it clear that the one final judgment rule is not an absolute.

In *Kurwa I* itself, agreeing with the Court of Appeal that a cause of action dismissed without prejudice is "no longer pending in the trial court," this Court concluded, with *Abatti v. Imperial Irrigation District* (2012) 205 Cal.App.4th 650, 666, that such a dismissal, without more, creates "sufficient finality" to make a judgment on the rest of the case appealable. *Kurwa I*, at 1105.

On the other hand, it held that, where parties have agreed to waive the statute of limitations as to such causes of action, they are "legally alive' in substance and effect," preventing the judgment disposing of the others from "achieving finality." *Id.*, at 1106.

The difference in impact on the policy against piecemeal appeals is one of degree. Even without tolling or waiver of the statutes of limitations, it is possible that some causes of action dismissed without prejudice at the time of judgment will be revived, resulting in piecemeal appeals. But, the "very real risk" that the

statute will run *before* they can be revived makes that possibility relatively less likely.

Where there is an agreement to waive the statute of limitations, however, the likelihood of piecemeal appeals is increased by an "artifice," providing sufficient reason to deny the resulting judgment finality. *Kurwa I*, 1105-06.

This Court also found good reason to depart from an absolutist approach to the one final judgment rule in adopting the "death knell" doctrine in class action cases. *Daar v. Yellow Cab Co.* (1967) 67 Cal.2d 695 (*Daar*); *In re Baycol Cases I & II* (2011) 51 Cal.4th 751 (*Baycol*).

The "death knell" doctrine provides that an order disposing of all class action claims is immediately appealable, even if the claims of individual plaintiffs remain unadjudicated. The Court found this departure from the one final judgment rule necessary for two reasons:

First, the order terminating all class claims is "the practical equivalent of a final judgment for some parties...."

Second, if the order were not treated as an appealable final judgment, "any appeal would likely be foreclosed...." *Daar*, at 699;

Baycol, at 757. Though able as a matter of law to appeal, individual plaintiffs would, "without the incentive of a possible group recovery," be unlikely to make the effort of obtaining final judgments and appealing from them. Baycol, at 758, quoting Daar, at 699.

In this Court's own words, the "death knell" exception to the one final judgment rule came into being because

we were understandably reluctant to recognize a category of orders effectively immunized by circumstance from appellate review.

Baycol, at 758.

Kurwa does not here ask the Court to depart from, or reshape, the one final judgment rule to satisfy the extrinsic policy considerations, such as efficiency, that it rejected in *Kurwa I*. As in *Daar* and *Baycol*, there is here at stake something fundamental to the appellate process itself: the right to appeal.

B. THIS COURT CANNOT ALLOW THE ONE FINAL JUDGMENT RULE TO BE TWISTED INTO A MEANS OF PERMANENTLY DENYING THE RIGHT TO APPEAL TO CERTAIN LITIGANTS.

The problem presented here is that the continued application of *Kurwa I* under current circumstances provides Kislinger – and others like him – with sole veto power over the right to appeal trial court

rulings in their favor.

That problem was not before this Court in *Kurwa I*, when *both* Kurwa and Kislinger had causes of action dismissed without prejudice protected by a waiver of the statute of limitations. Now that Kurwa has dismissed his defamation cause of action *with* prejudice, however, and the Court of Appeal has nevertheless dismissed Kurwa's appeal, Kislinger is left with the power to negate Kurwa's right to appellate review completely.

This Court has affirmed the specially protected status of the right to appeal in many contexts.

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