IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

BADRUDIN KURWA,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

MARK KISLINGER, et al.,

Respondent.

SUPREME COURT

FILED

FEB - 1 2017

After a Decision By the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Five Case No. B264641

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

Superior Court of Los Angeles The Hon. Dan Thomas Oki Case No. KC045216

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

DALE B. GOLDFARB ATTORNEY AT LAW

Dale B. Goldfarb, State Bar No. 65955 1055 W. Seventh Street, 29th Los Angeles, California 90017 Tel: (213) 489-3222 / Fax: (213) 623-7929

Attorneys for Defendants and Respondents, Mark B. Kislinger, Mark B. Kislinger, Ph.D, M.D., Inc., Mark B. Kislinger, MD., Inc.

1.	INTRODUCTION
II.	ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW3
III.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
IV.	STATEMENT OF THE FACTS7
V.	THE PURPORTED APPEAL BY APPELLANT IS UNTIMELY ON ITS FACE
VI.	EVEN IF TIMELY, THE JUDGMENT IS NOT APPEALABLE PURSUANT TO THE RULE OF KURWA 1
VII.	RESPONDENT IS NOT MISUSING THIS COURT'S OPINION. THERE ARE NO EQUITIES THAT FAVOR CREATING AN EXCEPTION FOR APPELLANT
VIII.	CONCLUSION16

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES

Don Jose's Restaurant (1997) 53 Cal.App.4 th 115
Harris v. Billings (1993) 16 Cal.App.4th 1405
Hill v. City of Clovis (1998)
Kurwa v. Kislinger (2013) 57 Cal.4 th 1097 2, 4, 5, 7, 11,12, 13,15
Vedanta Society of Southern California v. California Quarterly, Ltd. (2000) 84 Cal.App.4th 517, 525
STATUTES
Code of Civil Procedure, Section 581
California Rules of Court. Rule 8.104(a)(1)(A-C).

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

BADRUDIN KURWA,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

 \mathbf{v} .

MARK B. KISLINGER, et al.,

Respondent.

After a Decision By the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Five Case No. B264641

> Superior Court of Los Angeles The Hon. Dan Thomas Oki Case No. KC045216

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

I. INTRODUCTION

Nothing of substance has changed in this matter since this Court issued its opinion more than three years ago. Appellant's claimed right to appeal is still governed by the Stipulation he made at the time of trial, by the Judgment he approved at the time of trial, and by the dismissal he filed at the time of trial. All of Appellant's attempts to manipulate those facts are to no avail. This Court's decision in *Kurwa v. Kislinger* (2013) 57 Cal.4th 1097 is correct and created a clear and definitive line for practitioners as to what judgments were appealable and which were not.

Indeed, the ruling by this Court in *Kurwa 1* has had numerous articles written about it, and the practicing bar now understands that it cannot attempt to control or manipulate appellate jurisdiction. By permitting Appellant herein to avoid the rule he created, it would eliminate the bright line status of the rule and be unfair to Respondent who gave up rights in reaching the agreement with Appellant.

As the Court of Appeal noted in its Opinion dismissing Appellant's latest appeal, Appellant had taken an untimely appeal from a non-final Judgment. That was the situation when this matter was before this Court in *Kurwa 1*, and that is still the situation today. Respondent is not, as asserted by Appellant, using the stipulated agreement, judgment and dismissals entered as a means to unfairly protect itself, but is merely honoring the agreement that was bargained for by the parties over five years ago.

Appellant makes suggestions to weaken and change the *Kurwa1* judgment rule in ways which would benefit himself but would blur the bright line test that has been established. He also ignores the adverse impact that these new rules would have on Respondent who has honored all the commitments that he made at the

time this case originally went to trial.

II. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW.

Can a party who enters into a stipulation, through counsel and approved by the Court, manipulate the Appellate Court's jurisdiction, and then when unsuccessful in doing so, obtain a special rule of appealability that violates the agreement and is detrimental to the party who has taken no unfair, inconsistent action?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

This action was originally brought by Appellant over 12 years ago. (AA 9) Appellant was aggressive in pursuing the matter and filed his Second Amended Complaint on August 11, 2005 which included suing Respondent's law firm. (AA 1421) Ultimately, summary judgment motions were granted for the law firm and other co-defendants in this matter, which were appealed by Appellant herein. The Judgments entered were affirmed. (AA 1239-41).

The remaining causes of action were called for Trial on March 2, 2010. At that time, various motions *in limine* brought by Respondent were granted by the Trial Court. Also, at that time, Appellant voluntarily dismissed most of his causes of action choosing to pursue only his claims for breach of fiduciary duty and for an accounting. (*RT9-11*).

After the Motions in limine were granted by the Trial Court, Appellant's counsel voluntarily chose not to move forward with the trial. The decision made at that time by Appellant's counsel was a rational decision since it protected Appellant from substantial and valid defamation claims that were simultaneously pending against him by Cross-Complaint. The agreement also saved Appellant substantial fees and costs that he would have incurred to defend those defamation claims as well as prosecuting his own claims. At the time the stipulation was made, it was apparent that Appellant would most likely lose his claims against Respondent and that Respondent would most likely recover substantial damages on his defamation claim against Appellant. It is critical that the stipulation entered into by the parties at that time provided benefits to both sides, was made by counsel, and was approved by the Court. (RJN 212). There was no mistake and indeed there were rational reasons for the agreement being made.

After the stipulation was made to waive the statute of limitations and dismiss the defamation causes of action without prejudice, Appellant sought review in the Court of Appeal. That Court, by a two to one vote decided that the non-final Judgment was appealable and reversed the Judgment that had been entered. (AA 1435-39) Respondent petitioned this Court on the grounds that the mater should not have been appealable based upon the agreements made in the Trial Court and the applicable law. This Court issued its opinion in *Kurwa 1*, setting forth the bright line rule that a non-

appealable Judgment cannot be manipulated by counsel or the parties to make it appealable and ordered that the Court of Appeal dismiss Appellant's appeal.

Before his agreement, Appellant always had the option to move forward with the trial, present his available evidence regarding the business torts as well as his evidence for his defamation claim. He also could have responded to the evidence that would have been presented by Respondent on his defamation claim. There was nothing in the Trial Court's *in limine* Orders that precluded Appellant from moving forward. It was his decision not to do so and to carry out that decision he entered into a stipulation and Judgment in which the defamation actions were dismissed without prejudice and the statute of limitations were waived.

It was this conduct that this Court found violated the Final Judgment Rule enunciated in *Kurwa 1*. After this Court's ruling, Appellant took extreme measures in an effort to extricate himself from the conduct he had undertaken including his stipulation waving the statute of limitations and dismissing the defamation cause of action without prejudice. Appellant filed a motion in the Trial Court to rescind the Stipulation, to have the Trial Court reconsider its *in limine* rulings made years before, and to have the Trial Court set aside the Stipulation on the grounds of impossibility. (RJN9) None of these motions were accompanied by any declaration or evidence from trial counsel who had made the agreements. The Trial Court properly rejected all of Appellant's efforts to re-review the Orders and

agreements that had been made. (RJN 14) Appellant then petitioned the Court of Appeal for a Writ of Mandate which was denied, and thereafter review was unanimously denied by this Court.

Not giving up, Appellant filed another motion with the Trial Court to amend the Second Amended Complaint and to add a new cause of action for rescission of the Stipulation due to mistake of law. (RJN 89) Again, no supporting evidence was provided by Appellant. The Trial Court denied Appellant's motion, and the Court of Appeal again denied his subsequent Petition for Writ of Mandate. This Court also denied review. (RJN 14, RJN9, RJN 118)

After all of the Trial Court activity and Petitions of the Appellant, he decided to file a new and different dismissal of his defamation cause of action. This time, he filed it with prejudice. (AA 1457) However, since the defamation cause of action had already been dismissed by Appellant, the Trial Court was without jurisdiction to enter a new or different dismissal. *Code of Civil Procedure*, Section 581.

After filing this new (yet void) dismissal with prejudice,
Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal which is the originating document
of this matter. However, that Notice of Appeal did not regenerate or
create new or different appellate rights because it changed nothing in
the record since it was a nullity. The defamation Cross-Complaint of
Respondent was still dismissed without prejudice with a waiver of any
statute of limitation that applied to it. Unfortunately, Respondent
cannot assert his defamation claim because he gave up that right as

part of his bargained for agreement with Appellant years before at trial.

The Court of Appeal in its Order below dismissing the Appeal again, found that all the problems that had already existed with Appellant's attempt to appeal, still existed, and that this Court's ruling in *Kurwa 1* required that the Appeal be dismissed.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A detailed statement of the underlying facts is not necessary to resolve the issue raised by the present Appeal. In brief, Appellant and Respondent, who are licensed ophthalmologists, had their own individual practices. (AA 13, Paragraph15). In about 1991, they created a new combined practice to take advantage of various HMO type of agreements which were becoming more common in the medical business. The two doctors did not have their new practice formed properly and never functioned as a professional corporation as required. The practice always had substantial disagreements between the approach of the practice of medicine by the two individuals and because of the different work ethic of the two shareholders.

Ultimately, Appellant was accused of billing fraud by the United States Government and was ordered to reimburse fees he had received. The California Licensing Board also took action against Appellant, and after numerous reviews by the Courts, ultimately ordered him suspended from the practice of medicine for two months

and placed him on five years probation. (AA 1280). At about the same time, Appellant was also criminally charged for sexually assaulting two young female employees who worked for the medical entity. As a result of this criminal claim, Respondent was sued because of the alleged conduct of Appellant.

In order to distance himself from these problems, Respondent advised Physician Associates, the entity with whom they had a contract to obtain patients, that Plaintiff had been suspended from the practice of medicine and that their entity was not a professional corporation. Both of these factors precluded the entity from continuing to service patients based upon the terms of the contract. (AA 15-16,55)

After Physician Associates was notified of these issues, it sought bids from all of the ophthalmologists in the community to service its patients. Five separate physicians made bids to handle the work including separate bids by Appellant and Respondent herein. Ultimately, Physician Associates entered into a new contract with Respondent who had the lowest bid. (AA 58)

Appellant then commenced litigation against Respondent because Appellant had been unsuccessful in his bid to maintain the business and because Respondent obtained the contract.

V. THE PURPORTED APPEAL BY APPELLANT IS UNTIMELY ON ITS FACE.

The Notice of Appeal filed in this matter specifies that the appeal is taken from the 2010 Judgment. A Notice of Appeal must generally be filed within 60 days of notice of entry of a judgment but in no instance more than 180 days from entry of judgment. (California Rules of Court, Rule 8.104(a)(1)(A-C) Therefore, on its face the Notice of Appeal filed five years after the Judgment is untimely as a matter of law. The mere fact that plaintiff has now filed a new dismissal with prejudice relating to his defamation cause of action does not suddenly make the only Judgment in this case appealable. Appellant had already dismissed this case as part of his stipulation with defendant made five years ago at the beginning of trial. The dismissal was entered by the Trial Court relative to the defamation cause of action. Once a case has been dismissed by a party, the Court no longer has jurisdiction over that claim and the party cannot "dismiss" the case again in a different manner. Therefore, Appellant's attempt to dismiss this case with prejudice after having already dismissed it without prejudice has no effect.

In *Harris v. Billings* (1993) 16 Cal.App.4th 1405, the Court stated: "Following entry of a dismissal of an action by a plaintiff under *Code of Civil Procedure* Section 581, 'a trial court is without jurisdiction to act further in the action [citations] except for the limited purpose of awarding costs and statutory attorney's fees.

[citations.]' The trial court in this case had no jurisdiction to vacate the dismissal without prejudice, properly entered pursuant to appellant's request, or to enter a new order dismissing the action with prejudice."

This is exactly what plaintiff attempted to do here. He then somehow believes by doing so he has changed the judgment, made it a new judgment and starts the time to appeal all over again. This is completely inconsistent with the *Code of Civil Procedure*, and it makes no sense in the real world. If the changing of the form of dismissal were permitted, then a dismissal would have no effect since the status of the case could be changed after it was already dismissed. Moreover, even if such a dismissal could be changed, it could not possibly permit the Judgment that was approved by counsel and entered by the Court in this case, to become appealable. An appeal from the Judgment had long been barred and was still untimely.

Even if Appellants attempt to file a new dismissal could somehow transform the five year old Judgment to make it appealable, this appeal would still be untimely. If Appellant had the ability to file a dismissal with prejudice after already dismissing the case, he continuously had that ability for over five years. Here, Appellant chose not to utilize that ability and instead appealed to the Court of Appeal, responded in the Supreme Court, filed numerous trial court motions to change the Judgment and Stipulation, filed numerous Petitions for Writ of Mandate in the Court of Appeal and for review in this Court, all the while knowing all he had to do was to file a court

form to make the Judgment appealable. Then, more than one and a half years after this Court advised him of the issues with the Judgment and after taking all of these actions, Appellant decides to file a new dismissal. Even if it were otherwise effective, it is too late in this matter.

VI. EVEN IF TIMELY, THE JUDGMENT IS NOT APPEALABLE PURSUANT TO THE RULE OF KURWA 1.

Even if the dismissal with prejudice were effective as to Appellant's claim, the Cross-Complaint for defamation by Respondent has not been dismissed with prejudice. Significantly, Appellant attempts to skirt more significant problems by utilizing a new dismissal, and ignores his Stipulation to waive the statute of limitations and to preclude reinstitution of the case. It is that Stipulation (which Appellant has unsuccessfully attempted to set aside), that is the real problem, not the nature of the dismissal.

Appellant cited and continues to cite the case of *Vedanta*Society of Southern California v. California Quartet, Ltd.. (2000) 84

Cal.App.4th 517, 525. The citation is misleading and irrelevant.

Vedanta did not discuss a situation where a stipulation to waive the statute of limitations in an effort to manipulate the appellant court's jurisdiction had been made. However, to the extent an innocuous footnote, not dealing with the stipulation question, was mentioned in

that case, it is not controlling. Indeed it was implicitly disapproved by this Court's decision in *Kurwa 1*.

Vedanta is also not controlling because the question of appealability was not a disputed issue on appeal in that case. Therefore, any language in the footnote or otherwise is dicta. Significantly, the Vedanta case did not include a waiver of the statute of limitations. Moreover, this Court approved the holding in Hill v. City of Clovis (1998) which made it clear that the reasoning in a line of cases beginning with Don Jose's Restaurant (1997) 53 Cal. App.4th 115, applied. That line of cases held that a cause of action in a cross-complaint that was dismissed without prejudice and had a waiver of the statute of limitations made a judgment non-appealable. That is the scenario here, not the scenario in Vedanta.

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